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DECISION


The Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission (MHTC) is authorized to seek civil penalties in circuit court against Lisa Coyne for one violation related to drug and alcohol testing and two violations for failure to record duty status.  Because Coyne has corrected the deficiencies, the MHTC is not authorized to pursue injunctive relief.  

Procedure


On June 2, 2003, the MHTC filed a complaint.  This Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on November 13, 2003.  Gary J. Holtmeyer, Jr., the MHTC’s assistant counsel, represented the MHTC.  Coyne represented herself.  On February 5, 2004, the MHTC waived its reply brief and requested an expedited decision.
  

Findings of Fact

1. Coyne does business as Coyne Development in Sikeston, Missouri.  Coyne Development also uses the business name “Dirt Cheap Dirt.”  

2. Coyne Development started business in 2001.  Coyne is the mother of two children and also holds a job outside of Coyne Development.  

3. Coyne Development digs ponds exclusively on farms.  It does not charge for the excavation.  Coyne Development then sells the dirt and sand that it digs up.
  It does not charge for the dirt and sand, but charges for hauling it.  Coyne Development hauls only in intrastate commerce.  Coyne Development does not haul fruit, vegetables, or any kind of agricultural produce.  

4. Coyne Development sells the dirt to other farmers to build up the farmlands.  Building up flood zones is a good example of what the dirt is used for. 

5. Coyne has two dump trucks.  Their gross weight rating was greater than 26,001 pounds, as each of them weighed 54,000 pounds.  Coyne employs two drivers.  Coyne obtained farm tags for the vehicles.  

6. In 2001, Coyne Development hauled for approximately 15,000 miles and had gross revenue of approximately $18,750. 

7. On February 18, 2002, Coyne’s driver transported topsoil for $130.  On that date, Coyne had no drug and alcohol screening program in place.  

8. On February 26, 2002, Coyne’s driver transported topsoil to two customers for $130 each.  The driver did not record duty status time.  

9. Coyne has done some advertising in the local newspaper to sell the dirt.  Her ad stated that topsoil was available for $50, fill sand for $35, water sand for $30, and garden soil for $75, in 12-15 yd. truck.  The ad stated:  

WE HAUL—YOU HAUL

PICKUPS/DUMP BEDS/TRAILERS

“Special Flood Zone Bids.”  

(Pet’r Ex. 2.)  However, her advertising has primarily been through word of mouth.  

10. On March 4 and 5, 2002, the Division of Motor Carrier & Railroad Safety (which has since been transferred to the MHTC) conducted a compliance review of Coyne Development.  The inspector concluded that Coyne Development was not entitled to a farming exemption because it did not haul products from farm to market and because its vehicles were in excess of 42,000 pounds.  The inspector documented a failure to have a drug and alcohol testing program in place on February 26, 2002, and a failure to require the driver to make a record of duty status on February 26, 2002.  (Pet’r Ex. 1, Part B, at 1.)  The report included copies of invoices to one customer on February 18, 2002, and two customers on February 26, 2002.  According to a statement by one of Coyne’s drivers, Coyne Development agreed that it had not implemented a drug and alcohol testing program and did not have records of duty status for its drivers, but it would change its procedures immediately to bring its operations into compliance with regulatory requirements.  

Conclusions of Law

Jurisdiction of this Commission

The MHTC asks that this Commission authorize it to file suit in circuit court for injunctive relief and monetary penalties.  Section 390.156
 provides: 

An action to recover a penalty or a forfeiture under this chapter or to enforce the powers of the division under this or any other law may be brought in any circuit court in this state in the name of the state of Missouri and shall be commenced and prosecuted to final judgment by the general counsel to the [MHTC]. . . .

Section 622.290.1 provides:

Whenever the [MHTC] shall be of the opinion that a carrier, person or corporation is failing or omitting or about to fail or omit to do anything required of it by law or by order or decision of the [MHTC], or is doing anything or about to do anything or permitting anything or about to permit anything to be done, contrary to or in violation of law or of any order or decision of the [MHTC], it shall direct the general counsel to the [MHTC] to commence an action or proceeding in any circuit court of the state of Missouri in the name of the [MHTC] for the purpose of having such violations or threatened violations stopped and prevented either by mandamus or injunctions.  The [MHTC]'s general counsel shall thereupon begin such action or proceeding by a petition to such court alleging the violation complained of and praying for appropriate relief by way of mandamus or injunction. Such relief shall not be limited to permanent forms of mandamus and injunction, but shall include all available forms of injunction and mandamus, including temporary restraining orders, preliminary injunctions, permanent injunctions, preliminary orders of mandamus, and permanent orders of mandamus.

Sections 390.176 and 622.480 provide civil penalties as follows:

1.  Any [motor carrier that] violates or fails to comply with any . . . law . . . is subject to a penalty of not less than one hundred dollars nor more than two thousand dollars for each offense. 

2.  Every violation of the provisions of . . . any . . . law . . . by any [motor carrier] is a separate and distinct offense[.] 

(Emphasis added.)  


Section 621.040, RSMo Supp. 2003, transfers to this Commission the adjudicatory subject matter of the former Division of Transportation.  Section 621.040 does not specifically vest us with jurisdiction to decide whether the MHTC may seek relief in circuit court, nor does 

any other statute.   However, we have concluded that State v. Carroll, 620 S.W.2d 22 (Mo. App., S.D. 1981), mandates this procedure.  In that case, the Southern District held that the Division of Transportation (MHTC’s predecessor for enforcement purposes) could not file suit for penalties in circuit court until “after a proper hearing” on whether to do so.


At the hearing in this case, the MHTC argued that since the duties of the former Division of Transportation were transferred to this Commission, the MHTC is not required to seek “permission” from this Commission before filing in circuit court.  It argued that it files the case here only for a determination of whether there would be liability for a penalty and that the complaint in this case was filed under the “old” procedure.  The complaint in this case cites the legislation transferring authority to this Commission, and it specifically requests an order from this Commission “authorizing the Complainant to seek penalties and injunctive relief in the proper Circuit Court.”  Because the complaint is phrased this way, we do not make a determination in this case as to the respective roles of this Commission and the MHTC.  We merely proceed with our determination of whether the MHTC is authorized to seek the penalties in circuit court as requested in the complaint.  

Civil Penalties 


Sections 390.176 and 622.480 allow the MHTC to seek a penalty for each violation of the law by a motor carrier.  Coyne Development is a motor carrier, defined at § 390.020(18) as:

any person engaged in the transportation of property or passengers, or both, for compensation or hire, over the public roads of this state by motor vehicle.  The term includes both common and contract carriers[.]

(Emphasis added.)  


Coyne has the burden of proof under § 622.350, which states:

In all trials, actions, suits and proceedings arising under the provisions of this chapter or growing out of the exercise of the authority and powers granted in this chapter to the [MHTC], the burden of proof shall be upon the party adverse to the [MHTC] . . . to show by clear and satisfactory evidence that the determination, requirement, direction or order of the division complained of is unreasonable or unlawful as the case may be.

(Emphasis added.)  

Coyne’s Arguments


Coyne argues that she should not be assessed penalties because she had a new business and was unaware of the regulatory requirements.  However, ignorance of the law is not an excuse for failing to follow it.  Reeder v. Board of Police Comm’rs of Kansas City, 800 S.W.2d 5, 6 (Mo. App., W.D. 1990).  Coyne also argues that she sent a check to the MHTC but that it continued to pursue the case.  Any attempts at settlement are between the parties to the case and are not for this Commission to decide.  Coyne further states that she should not be liable for penalties because she has corrected the deficiencies.  She also asserts that the MHTC’s inspector informed her employee that she would not be assessed penalties if an employee attended a training seminar with the MHTC.  The MHTC’s inspector denied ever making such a statement.  

We need not resolve the credibility of either party.  The MHTC is correct in its assertion that the law would authorize it to pursue the penalties even though the deficiencies have been corrected.  However, the MHTC may exercise discretion in whether to pursue the penalties and in what amount.   


Coyne also asserts that she is entitled to an agricultural exemption because she has farm tags on her vehicles.  However, even if the vehicles have farm tags, that does not necessarily exempt them from the regulatory requirements applicable to motor carriers.  Section 390.030.1 provides:  

The provisions of this chapter shall not apply to:  

*   *   *

(3) Motor vehicles while being used exclusively to transport:  


(a) Stocker and feeder livestock from farm to farm, or from market to farm,


(b) Farm or dairy products including livestock from a farm or dairy,


(c) Agricultural limestone or fertilizer to farms,


(d) Property from farm to farm,


(e) Raw forest products from farm, or


(f) Cotton, cottonseed, and cottonseed hulls[.]


Coyne testified that Coyne Development gets the dirt exclusively from farms.  She also testified that the dirt was used to build up other farmlands and that building up flood zones is a good example of what the dirt is used for.  Section 390.030.1(3)(d) provides the exemption for motor vehicles used exclusively to transport “[p]roperty from farm to farm.”  Coyne has come very close to establishing this exemption.  She established that the dirt came from farms.  She did 

not testify as to any customers to whom Coyne Development transported dirt, other than farms.  However, she ran a newspaper ad for the dirt; thus, the dirt could have been available to customers other than farms.
  The evidence is not sufficient to definitively establish her entitlement to this exemption.  


Even if Coyne has farm tags on the vehicles, that does not necessarily establish the exemption under § 390.030.1(3)(d).  Section 301.030.3 provides for farm tags:  

Local commercial motor vehicle license plates shall also be so stamped, marked, or designed as to indicate they are to be used only on local commercial motor vehicles and, in addition to such stamp, mark or design, the letter “F” shall also be displayed on local commercial motor vehicle license plates issued to motor vehicles used for farm or farming transportation operations as defined in section 301.010[.]

Section 301.010 does not define “farm or farming transportation operations.”  Section 301.010(25) defines “local commercial motor vehicle” as:

a commercial motor vehicle whose operations are confined solely to a municipality and that area extending not more than fifty miles therefrom, or a commercial motor vehicle whose property-carry operations are confined solely to the transportation of property owned by any person who is the owner or operator of such vehicle to or from a farm owned by such person or under the person’s control by virtue of a landlord and tenant lease; provided that any such property transported to any such farm is for use in the operation of such farm[.]  


Coyne Development does not transport its own property to or from a farm that it owns or leases.  It may have obtained farm tags because its area does not extend more than 50 miles from Sikeston.  In addition, its vehicles may be used for “farm or farming transportation operations,” 

which is an undefined term in § 301.030.3.  However, the evidence is insufficient to establish an exemption under § 390.030.1(3)(d).  


49 CFR 395.1(k), as in effect at the time of the conduct at issue, provided an agricultural exemption from the provisions of 49 CFR 395.3 for drivers transporting agricultural commodities or farm supplies for agricultural purposes.  It did not provide an exemption from the provisions of 49 CFR 395.8, which the MHTC alleges Coyne violated. Even if the exemption applied to a violation of 49 CFR 395.8, Coyne agreed that Coyne Development does not transport any type of agricultural produce.   

The MHTC’s Complaint


The MHTC’s complaint asserts that on February 18, 2002, Coyne had failed to implement a drug and alcohol testing program.  It also asserts two instances of failure to record duty status on February 26, 2002.  However, in written argument, the MHTC asserts that Coyne did not have a drug and alcohol testing program on February 18 and February 26, 2002, and it asserts one instance on February 18 and two instances on February 26, 2002, of failure to record duty status.  


Before a penalty may be imposed, due process requires that Coyne be given sufficient notice of the charges in order to prepare a defense.  Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Arch’ts, Prof’l Eng’rs & Land Surv’rs, 744 S.W.2d 524, 538-39 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  This Commission has applied this principle in professional licensing cases and also in transportation cases.  MHTC v. Morrow, No. 03-0014 MC (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Aug. 25, 2003).  The doctrine of amendment to conform to the proof is normally not applied in licensing cases, Duncan, 744 S.W.2d at 539, and we are also reluctant to apply it to another type of administrative case before us.

We have made findings regarding the incidents that are alleged in the MHTC’s complaint, and no others.  Even so, the inspector’s report is not entirely consistent with the 

complaint.  The report (Part B, at 1) asserts a failure to have a drug and alcohol testing program in place on February 26, 2002.  However, if the report is broadly read as a whole, one could infer that Coyne did not have a drug and alcohol testing program in place on February 18, 2002, either.  


Because the complaint asserts one instance of failure to have a drug and alcohol testing program in place, occurring on February 18, 2002, and two instances of failure to record duty status, both occurring on February 26, 2002, we examine only those instances.  

Drug and Alcohol Testing Program


The MHTC argues that Coyne violated federal Regulation 49 CFR § 382.115(a), which provides:

All domestic-domiciled employers must implement the requirements of this part [relating to alcohol and drug testing] on the date the employer begins commercial motor vehicle operations.

The MHTC may enforce that provision under §§ 390.201 and 622.550:

[The MHTC] may enforce any of the provisions of Parts 350 through 399 of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, as those regulations have been and may periodically be amended, as they 

apply to motor vehicles and drivers operating in interstate or intrastate commerce within this state[.]


Coyne violated that provision by failing to have a drug and alcohol testing program in place on February 18, 2002.  Therefore, the MHTC is authorized to seek a civil penalty for that violation under §§ 390.176 and 622.480.  However, because Coyne now has a drug and alcohol testing program in place, the MHTC is not authorized to pursue injunctive relief under § 622.290.1.    

Duty Status


The MHTC also argues that Coyne violated federal Regulation 49 CFR § 395.8, which provides:

(a) Except for a private motor carrier of passengers (nonbusiness), every motor carrier shall require every driver used by the motor carrier to record his/her duty status for each 24 hour period using the methods prescribed in either paragraphs (a)(1) or (2) of this section.


(1) Every driver who operates a commercial motor vehicle shall record his/her duty status, in duplicate, for each 24-hour period.  The duty status time shall be recorded on a specified grid, as shown in paragraph (g) of this section.  The grid and the requirements of paragraph (d) of this section may be combined with any company forms.  The previously approved format of the Daily Log, Form MCS-59 or the Multi-day Log, MCS-139 and 139A, which meets the requirements of this section, may continue to be used.


(2) Every driver who operates a commercial motor vehicle shall record his/her duty status by using an automatic on-board recording device that meets the requirements of § 395.15 of this part. . . . 

Federal Regulation 49 CFR 395.1(e) exempts drivers from that requirement if they operate within a 100 air-mile radius of the normal work reporting location.  The MHTC agrees that each trip was within a 100 air-mile radius of Coyne Development’s normal work reporting location.  However, the exemption also requires:


(5) The motor carrier that employs the driver maintains and retains for a period of 6 months accurate and true time records showing:

(i) The time the driver reports for duty each day;

(ii) The total number of hours the driver is on duty each day;

(iii) The time the driver is released from duty each day; and

(iv) The total time for the preceding 7 days in accordance with § 395.8(j)(2) for drivers used for the first time or intermittently.

Coyne did not show that she met those requirements.  Therefore, she does not qualify for the exemption.  


In two instances on February 26, 2002, Coyne’s driver did not record his duty status time as federal Regulation 49 CFR 395.8 requires.  Therefore, we conclude that the MHTC is authorized to seek a civil penalty and injunctive relief for that violation under §§ 390.176 and 622.480.  However, because Coyne now has a time-keeping system in place, the MHTC is not authorized to pursue injunctive relief under § 622.290.1.      

Mitigating Factors


In determining the penalty that it seeks in circuit court, the MHTC may consider the facts presented in this case.  Coyne had a new business and was unaware of the requirements.  She has since corrected the deficiencies.  She did a limited amount of business in a local area; thus, any failure to comply with the letter of the regulations presented a minimal degree of any risk of harm to the public.  This situation is analogous to the professional licensing cases before this Commission, in which we decide legally whether there could be any cause to discipline a professional’s license under the statutes, and then the discipline to be imposed is in the discretion of the licensing agency.  Similarly, in this case we merely decide that the law would authorize the MHTC to pursue penalties in circuit court.  The degree to which it wishes to pursue such action lies within the discretion of the MHTC.  

Summary


Because Coyne committed three violations of the federal regulations, the MHTC is authorized to seek penalties against Coyne in circuit court in an amount not less than $300 and 

not greater than $6,000.  The MHTC may consider the mitigating factors that Coyne has presented.  The MHTC has not established entitlement to injunctive relief.  


SO ORDERED on February 17, 2004.



________________________________



JUNE STRIEGEL DOUGHTY 



Commissioner

	�The MHTC cites no authority stating any time deadline.  We assume that the MHTC is attempting to meet the statute of limitations in § 516.390, RSMo 2000.  This case arises from a compliance review conducted on March 5, 2002.  The MHTC filed the complaint on June 2, 2003.  In waiving the reply brief, the MHTC now asserts that “time is of the essence.”  


	�Coyne testified that she sold soil or sand that came from her own property only “a few times.”  


	�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.  





�In State ex rel. Missouri Div. of Transp. v. Sure-Way Transp., 884 S.W.2d 349, 353 n.5 (Mo. App., W.D. 1994), the Western District of the Court of Appeals questioned the Carroll procedure:





Section 390.156 does not give jurisdiction to the Division’s administrative law judge to consider the penalty action.  It requires that the Division prove its case before a circuit judge, not before one of its administrative law judges. . . .  At the minimum, we question whether review by the Division’s administrative law judge must be made in an adversarial hearing.  However, because this issue is not before us, we leave that decision for another case.





Thus, the Western District indicated its willingness to depart from Carroll, but did not have the opportunity to do so.  This Commission has found the Western District’s reading persuasive.  However, Carroll still requires the MHTC to bring a contested case before filing suit in circuit court for penalties.  


	�The market for dump truck loads of dirt may be limited, but it could conceivably be used in construction as well as agricultural use, and perhaps for residential use in limited circumstances.  
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